Halfway Between Kyoto and 2050 Zero Carbon Is a Highly Unlikely Outcome



Vaclav Smil



2024

Contents

Executive Summary	1
Introduction	2
1. Carbon in the Biosphere	4
2. Energy Transitions	8
3. Our Record So Far	14
4. What It Would Take to Reverse the Past Emission Trend	16
5. The Task Ahead: Zero Carbon Electricity and Hydrogen	18
6. Costs, Politics, and Demand	24
7. Realities versus Wishful Thinking	29
8. Closing Thoughts	32
References	34
About the Author	41
Acknowledgments	41
Publishing Information	42
About the Fraser Institute	43
Editorial Advisory Board	44

Executive Summary

- This essay evaluates past carbon emission reduction and the feasibility of eliminating fossil fuels to achieve net-zero carbon by 2050.
- Despite international agreements, government spending and regulations, and technological advancements, global fossil fuel consumption surged by 55 percent between 1997 and 2023. And the share of fossil fuels in global energy consumption has only decreased from nearly 86 percent in 1997 to approximately 82 percent in 2022.
- The first global energy transition, from traditional biomass fuels such as wood and charcoal to fossil fuels, started more than two centuries ago and unfolded gradually. That transition remains incomplete, as billions of people still rely on traditional biomass energies for cooking and heating.
- The scale of today's energy transition requires approximately 700 exajoules of new non-carbon energies by 2050, which needs about 38,000 projects the size of BC's Site C or 39,000 equivalents of Muskrat Falls.
- Converting energy-intensive processes (e.g., iron smelting, cement, and plastics) to non-fossil alternatives requires solutions not yet available for largescale use.
- The energy transition imposes unprecedented demands for minerals including copper and lithium, which require substantial time to locate and develop mines.
- To achieve net-zero carbon, affluent countries will incur costs of at least 20 percent of their annual GDP.
- While global cooperation is essential to achieve decarbonization by 2050, major emitters such as the United States, China, and Russia have conflicting interests.
- To eliminate carbon emissions by 2050, governments face unprecedented technical, economic and political challenges, making rapid and inexpensive transition impossible.

Introduction

Few terms have become as common during the first half of the 2020s as energy transition, decarbonization, and net zero by 2050, all conveying the grand global goal of eliminating fossil fuel combustion—and the attendant emissions of CO_2 —by the middle of the 21st century, and hence preventing further undesirable increases of tropospheric temperature.¹ "Net," the zero qualifier, is a hedge that considers the possibility of continued reliance on some fossil inputs whose emissions would be captured from the atmosphere and sequestered, resulting in no additions of anthropogenic CO_2 .² Unless emission can be decoupled from combustion, severing modern civilization's reliance on fossil fuels is a desirable long-term goal but one that (for many reasons) cannot be accomplished either rapidly or inexpensively.

Globally, coal and oil surpassed wood as the leading energy sources just before the end of the nineteenth century, and hence for the past 125 years we have been a predominantly fossil-fueled civilization (Smil, 2017). In mass terms, we will never run out of fossil fuels: enormous quantities of coal and hydrocarbons will remain in the ground after we end their use because it will be too expensive to extract them. Although the world of the early 2020s is in no imminent danger of running out of fossil fuels, in the long run they would have to be replaced even in the absence of any connections to global warming. Their conversions have made modern civilization possible, but their production, processing, and transportation are often environmentally disruptive, with impacts ranging from land dereliction to water pollution; their combustion generates not only CO₂, but also such pollutants as CO, nitrogen (NO, NO₂) and sulfur (SO₂ and SO₃) oxides and particulate matter; their highly uneven distribution contributes to worldwide economic inequalities; and the quest for secure fossil fuel supplies has led to many detrimental policies and contributed to recurrent conflicts.

Non-carbon alternatives have been making inroads for the past 140 years: the world's first hydroelectric station began to operate in 1882, the same year as Edison's first two

¹ Carbon is the dominant constituent of all fossil fuels. Its exothermic oxidation ($C + O_2 \rightarrow CO_2$) releases energy (32.8 MJ/kg) and generates carbon dioxide. Though heavier than the air, the gas mixes rapidly in the atmosphere where it persists for hundreds of years and affects the tropospheric temperature.

² This implies that effective, affordable, and permanent CO₂ sequestration methods able to operate on scales of hundreds of millions to billions of tons would be available. By 2023 there were about 40 relatively small projects in operation capturing a total of about 45 million tons globally, or a bit more than 0.1 percent of all annual emissions from energy use (IEA, 2023a).

coal-fired power plants started operating. The first commercial nuclear fission reactor was commissioned in 1956, and in 2022 those two modes of electricity generation supplied nearly a quarter of the world's demand.³ Geothermal generation also goes back more than a century but for many reasons it has never really taken off, while relatively large-scale production of biofuels (above all plant-derived ethanol) has been limited to the USA and Brazil. We remain a fossil-fueled civilization and this brief review demonstrates the high degree of our dependence and low probability, if not impossibility, of energizing the world's economy without any fossil carbon by 2050.

³ All global and national energy statistics can be found in Energy Institute (2023b).

1. Carbon in the Biosphere

The Earth is made hospitable for photosynthesis and habitable for all higher organisms thanks to the regulation of its atmospheric temperature by several naturally occurring trace gases—above all by carbon dioxide (CO₂), methane (CH₄), nitrous oxide (N₂O), and ozone (O₃). Without their presence the planet's surface would be permanently frozen at about -18°C, but by absorbing a small share of the outgoing (infrared) radiation these trace gases keep the mean tropospheric temperature at about 15°C or 33°C higher than in their absence (NASA, 2023).

There is nothing new about the realization that these trace gases could affect climate. In 1861 John Tyndall concluded that variation of atmospheric CO_2 "must produce a change in climate" (Tyndall, 1861). In 1896 Svante Arrhenius explained that exponential rise of CO_2 would result in a nearly arithmetic rise of surface temperatures and that the doubling of pre-industrial CO_2 levels might raise the Earth's temperature by 5 to 6°C (Arrhenius, 1896). In 1957 Roger Revelle and Hans Suess concluded that civilization has embarked on a large-scale "geophysical experiment of a kind that could not have happened in the past



Figure 1: Global CO₂ Emissions from Fossil Fuel Combustion Rose 19-fold between 1900 and 2022

Source: IEA, 2023b: 5.



Figure 2: Average Annual CO₂ Concentrations Measured at Mauna Loa Rose by 34 Percent Between 1958 and 2023

Source: Global Monitoring Laboratory, 2023.

nor be reproduced in the future" (Revelle and Suess, 1957). Just a year later US scientists began to measure CO₂ concentrations at the Mauna Loa Observatory in Hawai'i, which demonstrated their steady annual rise (Global Monitoring Laboratory, 2023). Remarkably, accumulated understanding had no effect on our actions and policies, and it is only since 1988 that global warming began to receive wider public attention when the UN General Assembly endorsed the establishment of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (IPCC, 2021).

Adoption of the UN's Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) followed in 1992, and the establishment of its supreme decision-making body, Conference of Parties (COP), in 1995. The Kyoto Protocol, which commits the signatory countries to cut greenhouse gases to "a level that would prevent dangerous anthropogenic interference with the climate system," was adopted in 1997 (UNFCCC, 2023; United Nations, 1998). Since that time the rise in attention paid to the global climate change has been exponential. We have learned a great deal, and although uncertainties remain, basic facts are indisputable.



Figure 3: CO₂ Emissions According to the IEA's Scenarios

Note: STEPS = Stated Policies Scenario; APS = Announced Pledges Scenario; SDS = Sustainable Development Scenario; NZE = Net Zero Emissions by 2050. After two centuries of rise, fossil fuel combustion is to experience a sudden and steep drop to zero by 2050. Source: IEA, 2021a: 33.

The best available summaries of global CO_2 emissions show that they increased 19-fold between 1900 and 2022, and that this steady rise was interrupted (for up to three years) fewer than 20 times across the 122-year span (see figure 1) (IEA, 2023b).

Ice core analyses show that CO_2 levels were close to 270 parts per million (ppm) by volume during the preindustrial era; in 1958 (when the Mauna Loa monitoring began) they reached 313 ppm. By the year 2000 they were at 370 ppm, and by the end of 2023 they reached 420 ppm, that is more than 50 percent above the late eighteenth-century level (see figure 2) (Global Monitoring Laboratory, 2023). Notice that the post-1958 rise has been uninterrupted: average annual concentrations show a steady rise that continued even during the years when global CO_2 emissions had temporarily declined: even in 2020, when COVID restrictions cut the emissions by 2 percent, the Mauna Loa level rose by 2.56 ppm.

This rise (together with contributions by CH_4 and N_2O) has translated to about 1.1°C of global warming compared to the late nineteenth-century mean. All continents have

been affected. Recent decadal warming gains have been steadily rising and the eight years between 2015 and 2022 were the warmest years on record since 1850 (World Meteorological Organization, 2023). Complex interactions of the atmosphere, hydrosphere, and biosphere and unknown levels of future greenhouse gas emissions make it impossible to pinpoint the degree of global warming that will be experienced by 2050. This brief assessment does not revisit any of these uncertainties and controversies, which have, by now, been widely covered. Instead, it concentrates on the realities, modalities, and probabilities of accomplishing the most important action that many now advocate for keeping the global mean temperature rise to an acceptable maximum: eliminating fossil fuel combustion, specifically, a complete decarbonization of the global energy supply by 2050.

The genesis of this goal goes to the Paris Agreement of 2015 (COP 21) which stated that the world must "achieve a balance between anthropogenic emissions by sources and removals by sinks of greenhouse gases in the second half of this century" (UNFCCC, 2015). The now common term "net zero" and the year 2050 were used for the first time in the IPCC's *Special Report on a Global Warming of 1.5°C* in 2018: in order to limit the warming to 1.5°C, global net anthropogenic CO₂ emissions must "decline by about 45% from 2010 levels by 2030… reaching net zero around 2050" (IPCC, 2018) (see figure 3).

2. Energy Transitions

The goal of reaching net zero global anthropogenic CO_2 emissions is to be achieved by an energy transition whose speed, scale, and modalities (technical, economic, social, and political) would be historically unprecedented. I will show why the accomplishment of such a transformation, no matter how desirable it might be, is highly unlikely during the prescribed period. What is particularly clear is that (in the absence of an unprecedented and prolonged global economic downturn) the world will remain far from reducing its energy-related CO_2 emissions by 45 percent from the 2010 level by 2030: for that we would have to cut emissions by nearly 16 billion tons between 2023 and 2030—or eliminate nearly as much fossil carbon as the combined emissions of the two largest energy consumers, China and the USA.⁴

The combination of scale and speed is the greatest factor making the unfolding transition so taxing. Miniaturization and relative dematerialization are two qualities admired in a modern society enjoying the benefits of solid-state microelectronics—but in aggregate terms mass will always matter. When the world began to undergo its first energy transition during the nineteenth century, it had to replace about 1.5 billion tons of mostly locally cut and burned wood with coal and, after the 1860s, also with hydrocarbons (Smil, 2016a). In 2022 the world produced nearly 8.2 billion tons of coal, almost 4.5 billion tons of crude oil, and 2.8 billion tons of natural gas, all extracted very efficiently and mostly in a highly concentrated manner from large mines and from enormous hydrocarbon fields on every continent.

In terms of final energy uses and specific energy converters, the unfolding transition would have to replace more than 4 terawatts (TW) of electricity-generating capacity now installed in large coal- and gas-fired stations by converting to non-carbon sources; to substitute nearly 1.5 billion combustion (gasoline and diesel) engines in road and off-road vehicles; to convert all agricultural and crop processing machinery (including about 50 million tractors and more than 100 million irrigation pumps) to electric drive or to non-fossil fuels; to find new sources of heat, hot air, and hot water used in a wide variety of industrial processes (from iron smelting and cement and glass making to chemical syntheses and

⁴ This, and all of the following calculations of global energy uses and carbon emissions, are based on spreadsheets available at https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.energyinst.org%2F__data%2Fassets%2Fexcel_doc%2F0007%2F1055545%2FEI-stats-review-all-data.xlsx&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK.

food preservation) that now consume close to 30 percent of all final uses of fossil fuels; to replace more than half a billion natural gas furnaces now heating houses and industrial, institutional, and commercial places with heat pumps or other sources of heat; and to find new ways to power nearly 120,000 merchant fleet vessels (bulk carriers of ores, cement, fertilizers, wood and grain, and container ships, the largest one with capacities of some 24,000 units, now running mostly on heavy fuel oil and diesel fuel) and nearly 25,000 active jetliners that form the foundation of global long-distance transportation (fueled by kerosene) (Hedges and Company, 2023; Ener8, 2023; CH-Aviation, 2022).

On the face of it, and even without performing any informed technical and economic analyses, this seems to be an impossible task given that:

- we have only a single generation (about 25 years) to do it;
- we have not even reached the peak of global consumption of fossil carbon;
- the peak will not be followed by precipitous declines;
- we still have not deployed any zero-carbon large-scale commercial processes to produce essential materials; and
- the electrification has, at the end of 2022, converted only about 2 percent of
 passenger vehicles (more than 40 million) to different varieties of batterypowered cars and that decarbonization is yet to affect heavy road transport,
 shipping, and flying (IEA, 2023c).

None of this will come as a surprise to students of energy history as global energy transitions have always been protracted affairs.

Coal surpassed global wood combustion only in 1900, and its share of energy supply peaked only in the mid-1960s. Oil began to supply more than 25 percent of all fossil fuels only during the late 1950s, nearly a century after its first modern commercial extraction, and natural gas began to contribute more than 25 percent of fossil energy supply just before the end of the 20th century, after some 130 years of the industry's development (Smil, 2016). Moreover, even the first grand energy transition still has not been completed more than two centuries after it began. Nearly 3 billion people (in Africa, monsoonal Asia, and Latin America) still depend, mainly for cooking, some also for heating, on traditional biomass energies: fuel wood (and charcoal made from it), straw, and dried dung still supplied about 5 percent of the world's primary energy in 2020.⁵

⁵ Approximation based on the worldwide annual consumption of 1.9 billion cubic meters of fuelwood (FAO, 2022) and on the assumption that at least 10 percent of crop residues are used for fuel (US EPA, 2023).



Figure 4: The IEA's Global Turning Points Followed by a Long and Substantial Presence of Fossil Fuels in the Stated Policies Scenario

Source: IEA, 2021a: 33.

The International Energy Agency's *World Energy Outlook 2023* illustrates both the widely misunderstood realities and the likely outcomes of the unfolding transition. The outcome of its scenario based on the stated national policies (that is, on policies already adopted by individual states to reach the intended decarbonization goals) was called something that "has never previously been seen" because each of the three fossil fuels was projected to reach a peak by 2030. The peak in energy-related CO₂ emissions is to take place by 2025, and afterwards the demand for fossil fuels is to decline by average of 3 exajoules a year (EJ/year) until 2050 (IEA, 2023d). Those who read just the media reports listing these changes and emphasizing this historic "turning point" were left with the impression that an imminent astounding shift was going to take place—but that would be a fundamental misunderstanding of the process because consumption peaks on the large-scale level (globally and for populous nations, not necessarily for small countries that can shift faster) are followed by long periods of decline.

Indeed, the accompanying figure (see figure 4) from the IEA's *World Energy Outlook* 2023 would have returned the consumers of media headlines back to reality. By 2050 even

coal consumption, after an unprecedented projected decline, would still be as high as it was at the beginning of the 21st century; both crude oil and natural gas consumption (yet to peak) would be nearly as high (>95 percent) as in 2030; and a steady decline would still leave fossil fuel consumption at about 85 percent of the current level (see figure 4). That is, of course, very far from any zero carbon scenarios.

The gradual nature of energy transitions is an inevitable consequence of the fact that none of them have been just a simple matter of replacing one energy source with another. Consider a common (but completely misplaced) phone analogy (ie., we have largely switched from landlines to mobile phones in only two to three decades, depending how you define the process, so why not to get rid of fossil fuels on a similarly short time scale?). Relying on such an analogy is to commit a serious category mistake, a logical fallacy that compares (and confuses) an extraordinarily complex system of securing a reliable and affordable global supply of energy for a variety of final energy uses with just one type of user assembly (most recently the 5G network).

The current energy networks are complex, their establishment and operation require constant maintenance and upgrading, and their costs are considerable, yet they are only one of many parts that make up the vastly more complex global energy system. That is why global energy transitions are complicated, multifaceted, protracted, and in their details rather unpredictable. They require system changes that involve mass-scale development, adoption, and massive scaling-up of new techniques (be they large-scale "green" hydrogen electrolysis or extensive multiplication of small modular fission reactors). They also require the construction of new extraction, processing, and distribution networks (to produce large quantities of basic materials, metals, synthetic compounds and automated controls). All of these changes require decades of steady, high-level investments and political commitments in to yield major economic and social changes.

In the past, replacing wood stoves with coal stoves, waterwheels and wind mills with steam engines, teams of horses with diesel engines, and oil and gas lamps with electric lights required new, extensive, and complicated infrastructures. They were needed to extract (coal mines, oil and gas fields, and dams), prepare (coal sorting and cleaning, crude oil refining, and natural gas processing), transport (railways, pipelines, ships, trucks, and high-voltage transmission lines), and convert (steam engines, steam and gas turbines, furnaces, boilers, turbogenerators, transformers, and electric motors) new forms of energy.

The unfolding energy transition requires not just very large numbers of new wind turbines and photovoltaic panels to generate "green" electricity. Renewable generation also needs expanded high-voltage transmission lines (overhead wires and undersea cables from offshore wind sites) to bring the electricity from the windiest and sunniest places to often distant cities and industrial areas. As the new energy transition ramps up it will also need capacious electricity storage, such as batteries (or other mechanical, thermal, or chemical arrangements) large enough to cope with the intermittency of wind and solar radiation; the need will become imperative if these sources become dominant generators of electricity and if they are not complemented, as they are today, by base-load nuclear or fossil fueled generation or by near-instant deployment of gas turbines.

Moreover, there are many final energy conversions (ranging from heavy ocean shipping and long-distance commercial aviation to chemical industry dependent on fossil carbon feedstocks) that cannot be readily electrified. Further, we would need substantial quantities of solid and liquid fossil carbon even in the zero-carbon world for paving (asphalt) and for industrial and commercial lubricants.⁶ Producing what I have called the four pillars of modern civilization—cement, primary iron, plastics, and ammonia—now depends on fossil fuels, and replacing them with alternatives will require the development of new mass-scale industries and distribution networks ranging from green hydrogen (made by electrolysis of water by green electricity) and ethanol to new synthetic fuels (Smil, 2022a).

Costs can alleviate or aggravate the challenges of complexity. If more complex innovations are cheaper than the established ways, or if their higher costs are outweighed by higher quality, efficiency, and convenience, then the transitions can proceed rapidly. Examples include black versus color television, reciprocating engines versus jet engines in long-distance commercial aviation, landlines versus mobile phones, and high-efficiency natural gas furnaces versus coal stoves. In contrast, renewable conversions start with the inherent disadvantages of having low power density and greater intermittency, and hence their full costs (with service comparable to the on-demand supply and reliability of fossil fuel converters) are considerably higher than the marginal cost of purchasing and installing new PV panels or wind turbines (Smil, 2015; Sorensen, 2015).

The cost differences have been narrowing but the latest comparisons of the levelized costs of electricity generation in the US indicate that the overall cost of solar PV (with a capacity factor of 28 percent) entering service in 2027 will be only 9 percent lower than the cost of combined cycle gas turbine (CCGT, capacity factor 85 percent), and that onshore wind will have the same overall cost but offshore wind plus battery storage will be still more than three times as expensive (US EIA, 2022). The promise of low-cost nuclear generation

⁶ Annual use is now more than 110 million tons of asphalt and more than 40 million tons of lubricants derived from crude refining (Venditti and Fortin, 2023, May 13; Shah, Woydt, and Aragon, 2020).

remains just that: by 2027 advanced nuclear generation is still expected to cost at least twice as much as CCGT, unsubsidized electric cars remain more expensive than comparable gasoline-powered vehicles, and the cost of green hydrogen, now in the earliest stages of development, remains uncertain.⁷ The unfolding transition thus relies on techniques that are not (as yet) compellingly and across-the-board cheaper, more reliable, and more than the conversion they are replacing. Moreover, some of them (above all, new reactors and mass-scale electricity storage) will require a great deal of further expensive development.⁸

13

⁷ Higher EV prices have recently led to slowing sales in the US and to the postponement of new model introductions (see McLain and Rattner, 2023, December 27; Garsten, 2023, December 14).

⁸ The best available battery has a gravimetric density of 500 watt-hours per kilogram (Wh/kg) (Amprius, 2023). Gasoline rates 12,200 Wh/kg, which is a 24.4 times greater energy density.

3. Our Record So Far

The most obvious way to start assessing the progress of the required energy transition is to look at what has been accomplished during the past generation when the concerns about global decarbonization assumed a new urgency and prominence. Contrary to common impressions, there has been no absolute worldwide decarbonization. In fact, the very opposite is the case. The world has become much more reliant on fossil carbon (even as its relative share has declined a bit). We are now halfway between 1997 (27 years ago) when delegates of nearly 200 nations met in Kyoto to agree on commitments to limit the emissions of greenhouse gases, and 2050; the world has 27 years left to achieve the goal of decarbonizing the global energy system, a momentous divide judging by the progress so far, or the lack of it.



Figure 5: Global Dependence on Fossil Fuels Has Continued to Rise in the Twenty-first Century

Source: Energy Institute, 2023b.

The numbers are clear. All we have managed to do halfway through the intended grand global energy transition is a small relative decline in the share of fossil fuel in the world's primary energy consumption—from nearly 86 percent in 1997 to about 82 percent in 2022. But this marginal relative retreat has been accompanied by a massive absolute increase in fossil fuel combustion: in 2022 the world consumed nearly 55 percent more energy locked in fossil carbon than it did in 1997 (see figure 5) (Energy Institute, 2023b).

The absolute cuts in carbon emissions that took place in large economies such as the EU (-23 percent) and the US (-9 percent) were far surpassed by massive absolute increases in emissions from the world's two largest industrializing nations, China (whose emissions rose 3.3 times), and India (whose emissions rose three-fold). Emissions also rose for Middle Eastern hydrocarbon producers (Saudi Arabia's about 2.3 times) and among other smaller emitters.

The conclusion is unequivocal: by 2023, after a quarter century of targeted energy transition, there has been no absolute global decarbonization of energy supply. Just the opposite. In that quarter century, the world has substantially increased its dependence on fossil carbon. This is a fundamental point: changes in global average atmospheric temperature respond to changes in the total atmospheric burden of radiation-absorbing gases, not to any local or national declines. Between 1997 and 2022 annual emissions of CO_2 from the fossil fuel energy sector (CO_2 from fuel combustion and processing, the CO_2 equivalent of CH_4 from extraction, flaring, and pipeline leakage) rose from about 25.5 billion tons of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO_2e) to about 39.3 billion tons (a 54 percent rise) (Energy Institute, 2023c).

As a result of complex interchanges within the global biogeochemical carbon cycle, only a fraction of these anthropogenic emissions remains in the atmosphere. Most of them are absorbed by the oceans and by vegetation, resulting in increasing concentration of the gas in ocean water (and hence in its acidification) and in the greening of the biosphere (the expansion of plant cover). Consequently, the total atmospheric burden of CO_2 (including the emissions from other sectors) rose from 2.85 trillion tons in 1997 to 3.27 trillion tons in the year 2022, corresponding to the increase of the mean Mauna Loa concentration from 364 ppm to nearly 420 parts per million (up by more than 15 percent). 15

4. What It Would Take to Reverse the Past Emission Trend

Given these realities, what are the chances of not only decisively reversing the past emission trend and starting global decarbonization, but eliminating the generation of carbon from fossil fuel combustion by 2050? After cutting our *relative* dependence on fossil fuels by just 4 percent during the first half of the prescribed post-Kyoto period, even if there was no further increase in CO_2 emissions we would have to cut it by 82 percent by 2050. In absolute terms eliminating the generation of carbon from fossil fuel combustion would mean cutting energy-related emissions by an average of 1.45 billion tons a year (compared to the average annual rise in emissions of nearly half a billion tons since 1995). That would be like eliminating the equivalent of two years of Saudi emissions, or nearly half of India's 2022 total—every year.

Obviously, any postponement of these annual cuts would then require higher cuts during the later years of the remaining period. Another revealing way of viewing the daunting magnitude of this challenge is to look at the cuts that would have to be made by G20 economies to meet the interim 2030 goals: for nearly all major economies, it would generally mean halving the 2020 emissions, with cuts of 45 percent for Canada and 46 percent for Saudi Arabia, to 55 percent for the EU, 56 percent for the US, and 63 percent for China (McKinsey, 2023). Only an unprecedented economic collapse could bring such cuts during the next seven years.

After increasing our dependence on fossil fuels by almost 180 exajoules since 1997, to reach zero carbon in 2050 we would have to eliminate almost 500 EJ (that is equivalent to about 12 billion tons of crude oil)—even if there were no further consumption increases. But non-carbon energies would have to replace not only all of today's carbon fuels, but also cover all the additional increase in global energy use anticipated by 2050. As expected, long-range forecasts differ, but global energy demand (reduced by higher conversion efficiencies) is set to grow by at least 10 to 15 percent by 2050.⁹ In the carbon-free world, these needs would have to be met by a combination of renewably generated electricity, green hydrogen, and green fuels.

⁹ To see the range of forecasting assumptions, look at studies by the International Energy Agency, the US Energy Information Agency, ExxonMobil, and Det Norske Veritas (DNV).

I must stress that the unfolding energy transition will not be replacing today's fossil fuel use and any of its future increases with the equivalent amount of non-fossil energies. That is mainly because the greater electrification of the global energy system based on renewable flows will raise overall efficiency of energy use by reducing conversion losses (Pahud et al., 2023). Specific reductions will vary. Electric vehicles offer especially large efficiency gains: they could go more than four times further on a given amount of energy than gasoline-powered vehicles (Singer et al., 2023). In contrast, there are no early prospects for electrifying intercontinental shipping and flying. Efficiency gains from the electrification of industrial processes would vary widely, and not all of them could be electrified. And there will be negligible gains for space heating, with 100 percent efficiency for electric resistance heating compared to as much as 93 to 99 percent for modern gas furnaces (Lennox, 2024). Of course, heat pumps could provide significant efficiency gains but their coefficient of performance would have to be relatively high in order to be cost-competitive. Eventual overall reductions of energy use due to electrification will also depend on the (yet unknown) shares to be supplied by solar, wind and nuclear generation, by biofuels and by "green" hydrogen. Nuclear electricity generation has been only 33 percent efficient (and no imminent breakthroughs are expected), some biofuels have high energy cost, and one kilogram of the hydrogen is equivalent to about 33 kWh of electricity but its production by electrolysis of water needs about 50 kWh/kg (US EIA, 2023a; Marouani et al., 2023). The new non-fossil global energy system would be less wasteful overall but how much less remains to be seen.

17

5. The Task Ahead: Zero Carbon Electricity and Hydrogen

Hydroelectricity now supplies about 15 percent of the world's electricity generation, followed by nuclear fission, which generates about 10 percent (Energy Institute, 2023b). New renewables, wind and solar, have grown rapidly during the past three decades and in 2022 they supplied 12 percent of all electricity generation, still less than the total generated by the two older carbon-free alternatives. Moreover, primary electricity (hydro, nuclear, wind, solar, and a small contribution by geothermal plants) accounted for no more than about 18 percent of the world's primary energy consumption, which means that fossil fuels still provided about 82 percent of the world's primary energy supply in 2022. This comes as a surprise to people unfamiliar with global energy statistics. The endless announcements of new wind farms and the sight of large areas covered by PV cells make most people believe that we have gone much further toward renewably electrifying everything.

The ultimate extent of the task of moving to carbon-free electricity generation depends on the as yet unknowable contributions of other generation methods and the eventual extent and modes of electrification. The fate of fission is perhaps the main uncertainty. Despite decades of promises that the arrival of large numbers of small modular reactors (SMRs, up to 300 MW) was imminent, and that they would resurrect stagnating electricity generation by nuclear fission, and despite some 80 different designs, in 2023 not a single SMR was operating anywhere in the West. China has only a single test prototype (IAEA, 2023). Similarly, proponents of geothermal generation stress its enormous potential, but practical advances have been slow there, too.

The eventual need for renewably generated electricity will depend on the extent of direct and indirect uses of electricity. The choice is exemplified in transportation by Tesla versus Toyota: what market shares will eventually be claimed by battery-powered vehicles and fuel cell vehicles (with hydrogen fuel made by electrolysis of water)? Further along the transition road, will airplanes be using much improved (yet currently unavailable high-power density) batteries, burning hydrogen directly, or using fuel cells for electric drive? What is clear is that the total addition of zero carbon electricity will have to go far beyond just replacing today's fossil-fueled generation, which is about 62 percent of the total of more than 29 quadrillion watthours (PWh) in 2022. Electricity demand will continue to

grow: the International Energy Agency forecasts annual growth of 3.3 percent until 2050 and that would raise the 2022 total nearly 2.5-fold to just over 72 PWh (IEA, 2022).

Even if hydro and nuclear were to cover 20 percent of that total, wind and solar would have to reach about 58 PWh in 2050, about 17 times their 2022 output and almost exactly twice the 2022 electricity generation from all sources. (Moreover, their inherent intermittency would require further substantial investments in mass-scale storage and HV transmission to ensure interrupted supply.) That would require sustained annual growth of about 10.5 percent, a rate that looks quite manageable compared to the actual annual growth of about 29 percent for solar and 15 percent for wind between 2012 and 2022—but it will be, as in the case of any long-term growth, harder to sustain as the absolute annual totals become an order of magnitude higher.

Besides the electrification trends already underway (passenger cars, heating, some industrial processes) large shares of non-carbon generation will be needed for electrifying, to the maximum extent possible, all those industries that now rely on coal, oil, and gas. While further expansion of wind and solar generations rests on scaling up well-known, mature conversion techniques, decarbonizing many industrial processes will require the development of new processes, first testing their prototypes and then deploying them commercially around the world. Two key examples show the challenges of such unprecedented efforts.

Steel is, and it will remain, modern civilization's dominant metal, indispensable for all infrastructure, housing, transportation, agriculture, and industrial production (Smil, 2016b). Roughly 30 percent of the world's steel is made by recycling scrap metal: this is done in electric arc furnaces (EAF) and hence this effort can be fully energized by green electricity. But 70 percent of the world's steel comes from basic oxygen furnaces (BOF) using cast (pig) iron smelted in blast furnaces (BF) fueled with coke (made from coking coal), coal dust, and natural gas. In 2022, the output of this primary BF-BOF steel reached 1.4 billion tons. The forecasts are that no less than 2.6 billion tons of the metal will be needed in 2050. Even with raising the EAF steel share to 35 percent, demand would require roughly 1.7 billion tons of green iron (World Steel Association, 2023; ArcelorMittal, 2023). Instead of reducing iron ores with carbon (and emitting CO₂), in the zero-carbon world we would have to reduce them with hydrogen (Fe₂O₃ + 3H₂ \rightarrow 2Fe + 3H₂O). This means that by 2050 the annual output of 1.7 billion tons of green steel would need about 91 million tons of green hydrogen (see figure 6).

Ammonia is an even more important product: about 85 percent of its annual production is used to make synthetic nitrogenous fertilizers without whose continuing applications

19



Figure 6: Primary Green Ironmaking

Note: Set-ups such as this one, non-existent in 2023, would need to produce more than 1.5 billion tons of metal by 2050. Source: Iberdrola, Undated.

about half of today's world population could not survive (Smil, 2022a). Ammonia is now synthesized with nitrogen taken from the air and hydrogen produced through a shift reaction from natural gas, coal, and liquid hydrocarbons (N₂ + 3H₂ \rightarrow 2NH₃), with less than 5 percent coming from electrolysis of water (green hydrogen). In 2022 the annual output of ammonia reached about 150 million tons; forecasts are that at least 200 million tons will be needed by 2050. The fossil carbon-free Haber-Bosch ammonia synthesis process would need about 44 million tons of green hydrogen by 2050.

These two key material processes, the making of steel and ammonia, would need an annual production capacity of some 135 million tons of green hydrogen by 2050. However, depending on additional needs for transportation and heating, from industries (from glassmaking to food preservation), and for peak electricity generation, the total demand for green hydrogen could be easily as high as 500 million tons by 2050. Electrolytic production of green hydrogen needs about 50 MWh/ton: making 500 million tons of green

hydrogen by 2050 would thus require about 25 PWh of green electricity, the total equal to about 86 percent of the 2022 global electricity use (IRENA, 2023). To repeat, this renewably generated electricity would be dedicated to the production of green hydrogen alone! How fast can we get there? In 2023 an IEA review estimated that in 2030 the global output of green hydrogen could reach 38 Mt, but only if all intended projects for electrolytical processing (or from fossil fuels with carbon capture) were completed (IEA, 2023e).

But half of this potential output comes from projects that are still undergoing feasibility studies or are at the early stages of realization, while the projects under construction or those that have received final investment decisions made up only 4 percent of all announcements. Production targets by HyDeal España are an excellent example of this uncertain state. In 2021 the International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA) welcomed HyDeal España's announcement of "the world's largest renewable hydrogen giga-project." Then in September 2023, the company more than halved its 2030 target for electrolyzer capacity from 7.4 GW to 3.3 GW, as it announced a new goal of producing 150,000 tons of green hydrogen by 2031 (Fertiberia, 2022; HyDeal, Undated; Biogradlija, 2023, September 15). And the "giga" label should be put into practical perspective. An annual output of 150,000 tons of green hydrogen would be enough to synthesize 700,000 tons of ammonia, which would supply about 0.65 percent of the nitrogen now applied every year to the world's crops. Conversely, that means we would need more than 150 equally sized "giga" projects to cover today's global demand for the most important plant macronutrient.

As for green steel, the first steel plant smelting iron ore with hydrogen produced by renewably generated electricity is now under construction in northern Sweden. The plan is to make 1 Mt of steel in 2026 and then to ramp it up to 5 Mt by 2030 (Jones, 2023, February 22). An annual output of 1 Mt is equivalent to 0.07 percent of the world's 2022 primary steel production. To make all primary steel (1.7 Gt) green by 2050, the world would need to open 340 Boden-like plants (assuming 5 Mt/year each) between 2030 and 2050. That is one every three weeks during that 20-year period, preferably located near green hydrogen electrolytic plants and near plants producing pelleted or briquetted iron without any fossil fuel.

This pace of required hydrogen and steel plant additions illustrates another fundamental factor that is likely to affect the unfolding global energy transition: every one of its components will generate unprecedented demand for materials and the challenge is made more difficult both by higher material intensities of some new techniques and by complicated access to many essential resources (Smil, 2023a). Wind turbines are perhaps the best illustration of the former reality. While gas turbines—today's dominant on-demand



Figure 7: The Declining Quality of Chilean Copper Resources Between 1999 and 2016

generators of electricity—are highly efficient (>60 percent) and compact machines that need less than 10 tons of materials per installed MW, and no more than 30 t/MW when adding all associated structures, large wind turbines need typically about 500 t/MW of materials (Carrara, Alves Dias, Plazzotta, and Pavel, 2020). Reinforced concrete for foundations dominates, followed by steel for tall towers, epoxy resins, balsa and carbon fibers for blades, plastics, copper, aluminum, ceramics for the nacelle, and two rare metals, neodymium and praseodymium, for permanent magnets.

Materials for electric vehicles fits into both categories of concern. A typical electric vehicle contains more than five times the amount of copper (80 versus 15 kg) of an internal combustion car engine. Replacing today's 1.35 billion light-duty gasoline and diesel vehicles with EVs and supplying the expanded market (estimated at 2.2 billion cars by 2050) would thus require nearly 150 million tons of additional copper during the next 27 years. That is an equivalent of more than seven years of today's annual copper extraction for all of the metal's many industrial and commercial uses (EIA, 2021, October 26). In addition, the IEA estimates that, compared to 2020, the take-over of EVs by 2040 would need more than 40 times as much lithium as is currently mined, and up to 25 times the amount of graphite, cobalt, and nickel (IEA, 2021c). Cumulative demand for materials

Source: Mills, 2022, October 27.

to achieve total decarbonization by 2050 has been estimated at about 5 billion tons for steel, nearly a billion tons for aluminum, and more than 600 million tons of copper (to list just the three largest items). Such massive mineral needs bring not only technical and financial concerns, but also environmental and political implications (Energy Transitions Commission, 2023; Sonter, Maron, Bull, et al., 2023).

Copper offers a stunning example of these environmental externalities. The metal content of exploited copper ores from Chile, the world's leading source of the metal, has declined from 1.41 percent in 1999 to 0.6 percent in 2023, and further quality deterioration is inevitable (see figure 7) (Lazenby, 2018, November 19; Jamasmie, 2018, April 25; IEA, 2021c).

Using the mean richness of 0.6 percent means that the extraction of additional 600 million tons of metal would require the removal, processing, and deposition of nearly 100 billion tons of waste rock (mining and processing spoils), which is about twice as much as the current annual total of global material extracted including harvested biomass, all fossil fuels, ores and industrial minerals, and all bulk construction materials.10 Extracting and dumping such enormous masses of waste material exacts a very high energy and environmental price as it puts new, supposedly "green" energy uses even further from the goal of maximized material recycling. Moreover, copper's production is dominated by just a few countries (Chile, Peru, China, and Congo), and China alone refines 40 percent of the world's supply. China processes even more of the other minerals required for green energy conversion: nearly 60 percent of lithium, 65 percent of cobalt, and close to 90 percent of rare earths (IEA, 2021d; Castillo and Purdy, 2022). That makes OPEC's grip on crude oil (now 40 percent of global production) a relatively restrained affair!

Further, when countries from Canada to Germany find it impossible to construct enough basic housing for their populations, it is obvious that any accelerated installation of green energy projects and infrastructure will be restricted by shortages of experienced labour. Germany, thanks to its Energiewende (energy transition) is the EU's leader in the pursuit of greenness and it is already affected: in 2023 the country lacked about 216,000 skilled workers to expand solar and wind power, and the now mandatory installation of heat pumps needs another 80,000 technicians (KOFA, 2022; Smarter Europe, 2023). Similarly, the US is finding that labour shortages will slow down any radical plans it has for green energy transitions (Colman, 2023, February 27).

¹⁰ See the best estimates of annual global material flows in Smil (2023a).

6. Costs, Politics, and Demand

We do not know either the eventual magnitudes and shares of specific energies that would enable the carbon-free world to be a reality or the extent of their global infrastructures. These realities cannot be determined decades ahead; they will be formed gradually and, to a significant degree, unpredictably. This makes any overall cost estimates questionable. We also need to interpret properly the trend of decreasing costs of newly installed wind and solar capacities. As is common with most new conversion techniques undergoing largescale commercialization, these per-unit declines of installed capacity have been substantial, but during the next quarter century they cannot be expected to continue at rates similar to those experienced since the year 2000. More importantly, those two renewable, and hence intermittent (variable), modes of generation need back-up when nights, cloudiness, and calm (or winds too strong to operate wind turbines) intervene (BloombergNEF, 2023, June 7).¹¹

As long as solar and wind supply relatively low shares of total electricity generation, such needs are readily covered by existing base-load coal-fired or nuclear generation, by near-instantly available gas turbines, or by imports from neighboring countries.¹² Once the intermittent sources become dominant and all gas-turbines are gone, they will need either extensive high-voltage interconnections to bring electricity from more distant regions or substantial capacities of longer term electricity storage. Construction of much-needed high-voltage lines has been notoriously behind the anticipated completion dates (with causes ranging from vigorous NIMBY opposition to the high cost of new links), be they in the US (from the interior to the coasts) or Germany (north-south). Meanwhile, the IEA has estimated that meeting the global decarbonization goals would require adding or refurbishing more 80 million kilometres of transmission grids by 2040. That is the equivalent of the entire existing global grid in 2023 and one predicated on the further mass-scale mobilization of steel, aluminum, copper, and cement (Appunn, 2021, April 29; IEA, 2023f).

¹¹ For backup needs, see Delarue and Morris (2015) and Solomon, Child, and Caldera (2017).

¹² In 2022 the US capacity factors ranged from more than 90 percent for nuclear generation, 62 percent for natural gas, 36 percent for wind, and 25 percent for PV solar (EIA, 2023b). Denmark is an excellent example of a country that balances a high share of intermittent generation (wind accounted for almost exactly 50 percent of total generation in 2021) with imports. In 2021 its net electricity imports were equal to about 15 percent of domestic generation (net imports of 22.3 petajoules (PJ) from Norway and 17.5 PJ from Sweden; net exports to Germany of 14.3 PJ and 8 PJ to the Netherlands (Danish Energy Agency, 2023).

And, so far, only pumped hydro storage (requiring specific terrain configuration and impossible in lowlands) can provide as much as a gigawatt of power for many consecutive hours. But renewably electrified megacities of the 2040s in monsoonal Asia might need (during a typhoon day) storage of many gigawatts (5 to 20 GW) for 10 to 20 hours (rating up to 400 GWh), while today's largest lithium-ion (Li-ion) battery energy storage (Moss Landing in California) is rated at 750 MW/3 GWh, two orders of magnitude lower.¹³ Obviously, costs of these necessary transmission or storage arrangements (back-ups) will have to be added to the cost of wind turbines and PV panels in all systems dominated by intermittent generation.

Another category mistake involving costs is to hope that the global energy transition to zero fossil carbon can be achieved by embarking on an equivalent effort and cost of the dedicated targeted development so famously exemplified by the construction of the first nuclear bombs (the Manhattan Project) or putting men on the Moon (Project Apollo). We have comprehensive data about the cost of those two endeavours and after converting them to 2022 monies they look, when seen from the spending perspective of the 2020s, like extraordinary bargains: the Manhattan Project (1943-1945) cost just \$33 billion (in 2022 dollars) or 0.3 percent of GDP for those years, while the Project Apollo (1961-1972) came in at \$207 billion (in 2022 dollars) or 0.2 percent of GDP for those 12 years (Smil, 2022b).

Nobody can offer a reliable estimate of the eventual cost of a worldwide energy transition by 2050 though a recent (and almost certainly highly conservative) total suggested by McKinsey's Global Institute makes it clear that comparing this effort to any former dedicated government-funded projects is another serious category mistake. Their estimate of \$275 trillion between 2021 and 2050 prorates to \$9.2 trillion a year. Compared to the 2022 global GDP of \$101 trillion, this implies an annual expenditure on the order of 10 percent of the total worldwide economic product for three decades, rather than 0.2 or 0.3 percent for a few years (McKinsey and Company, 2022; World Bank, 2023).

In reality, the real burden would be far higher for two reasons. First, it cannot be expected that low-income countries could sustain such a diversion of their limited resources and hence this global endeavour could not succeed unless the world's high-income nations annually spend sums equal to 15 to 20 percent of their GDP. More importantly, this ultimate global transformation project would face enormous cost overruns. As the world's most comprehensive study of cost overruns (more than 16,000 projects in 16 countries

¹³ Recent electricity demand for the Tokyo region has been averaging around 30 GW (TEPCO, 2023; Lewis, 2023, August 3).

and in 20 categories, from airports to nuclear stations) shows, 91.5 percent of projects worth more than \$1 billion have run over the initial estimate, with the mean overrun being 62 percent (Flyvbjerg and Gardner, 2023). Applying a 60 percent correction would raise McKinsey's estimate of the cost of global decarbonization to \$440 trillion, or nearly \$15 trillion a year for three decades, requiring affluent economies to spend 20 to 25 percent of their annual GDP on the transition. Only once in history did the US (and Russia) spent higher shares of their annual economic product, and they did so for less than five years when they needed to win World War II.¹⁴ Is any country seriously contemplating similar, but now decades-long, commitments?

In 2024, the political implications and complications of eliminating carbon emissions by 2050 are self-evident. Global warming is a global problem and decarbonization cannot be achieved without worldwide participation, with most of the burden carried by a small group of the largest emitters. China is now responsible for 31 percent of global emissions from energy use, the US for 14 percent, the EU for 11 percent, India for 8 percent, Russia for 4 percent, and Saudi Arabia and Indonesia each for about 2 percent. What are the chances that this Big Seven will move harmoniously and steadfastly for the next 27 years toward the common goal of zero carbon by 2050?

What incentives does Russia have—being in a *de facto* state of war with EU/US in Ukraine—to join the West in decarbonizing when hydrocarbon exports are the foundation of its otherwise weak economy? How eager will China be to work with India (there is still no peace treaty between the two nations) and with the US, bent as it is on a newly embraced decoupling? Why would India, now trying to replicate (at least to some degree) China's post-1990 economic ascent, forgo the use of its coal when China has quadrupled its extraction during the past 30 years? Not surprisingly, we see headlines such as "India May Boost Coal Power Fleet 25% by 2030 Amid Rising Demand" (Singh and Kitanaka, 2022, September 23). Moreover, as recent numbers indicate, China is far from done with its massive use of fossil fuel: its coal output reached a new record in 2022 and the country approved the construction of 106 gigawatts of new coal-fired power, the highest capacity since 2015 (Reuters, 2023, February 26).

We must also consider the poorest continent, the population of which will grow from 1.2 to 2.5 billion by 2050. Africa has seen how China became relatively rich during the past generation by quadrupling its combustion of fossil carbon and becoming the world's largest producer of cement, steel, plastics, and ammonia. Affluent countries themselves

¹⁴ The best reconstruction of wartime US expenditures shows the annual rate rising from about 16 percent of GDP in 1942 to 37 percent in 1945 (Tassava, 2008).



Figure 8: Forecast of New Airplane Deliveries between 2023 and 2042

Source: Airbus, 2023.

have no large-scale non-fossil alternatives that could be transferred to Africa and enable the continent to pursue green development. That is why "African Nations Tell COP27 Fossil Fuels Will Tackle Poverty" (Mcfarlane and Abnett, 2022, November 10).

And the need for energy and associated infrastructure is immense. Except for South Africa, Sub-Saharan Africa's per capita energy use is less than 10 GJ/year, compared to India's 26 GJ and China's 112 GJ (Canada uses nearly 370 GJ a year per capita). No wonder that African politicians demand the development of fossil fuel resources to lift the continent's living standards perhaps to the Indian level! Development of some large natural gas reservoirs in Africa looks particularly appealing as the liquefied fuel can be readily exported worldwide; new gas fields are now under development in Senegal, Ghana, Nigeria, Cameroon, Angola, Mozambique, and Tanzania. They will not start producing before 2030 only to be shut down in the effort to decarbonize a decade or two later (Casey, 2023, September 13).

And let us not forget that it was not any accelerated production of wind or solar electricity, nor any green hydrogen, but the diversion of liquefied natural gas from the US, Qatar, and Nigeria that prevented crippling supply shortages in the EU following Russia's invasion of Ukraine in 2022 and 2023, and that large-scale natural gas exports, not any construction of PV cells, are the foundation of the Russia-China alliance (Miller, 2023, May 17). The demand for fossil-fueled machines remains high everywhere. Post-COVID, airlines are placing record orders for large new jetliners: in 2022 United Airlines ordered 200 jets; in 2023 Indigo (India's largest airline) ordered 500 and Air India 470 jets. The latest forecast by Airbus is that more than 40,000 new jetliners will be needed between 2023 and 2042—and these kerosene-fueled machines typically operate for up to 30 years (see figure 8) (Reuters, 2023, June 20; Airbus, 2023).

Orders for massive diesel-powered cruise ships reached 56 new vessels by August 2023 and, again, they will not be launched before 2030 with the intent of sailing for just a few years (Cruise Industry News, 2023, August 24). Too many realities point to the same conclusion: there will not be cuts in fossil carbon of anywhere near 50 percent by 2030—and no zero carbon by 2050.

7. Realities versus Wishful Thinking

Since the world began to focus on the need to end the combustion of fossil fuels, we have not made the slightest progress in the goal of absolute global decarbonization: emission declines in many affluent countries were far smaller than the increased consumption of coal and hydrocarbons in the rest of the world, a trend that has also reflected the continuing deindustrialization in Europe and North America and the rising shares of carbon-intensive industrial production originating in Asia. As a result, by 2023 the absolute reliance on fossil carbon rose by 54 percent worldwide since the Kyoto commitment. Moreover, a significant part of emission declines in many affluent countries has been due to their deindustrialization, to transferring some of their carbon-intensive industries abroad, above all to China.

Denmark, with half of its electricity now coming from wind, is often pointed out as a particular decarbonization success: since 1995 it cut its energy-related emissions by 56 percent (compared to the EU average of about 22 percent)—but, unlike its neighbours, the country does not produce any major metals (aluminum, copper, iron, or steel), it does not make any float glass or paper, does not synthesize any ammonia, and it does not even assemble any cars. All these products are energy-intensive, and transferring the emissions associated with their production to other countries creates an undeservedly green reputation for the country doing the transferring.

Given the fact that we have yet to reach the global carbon emission peak (or a plateau) and considering the necessarily gradual progress of several key technical solutions for decarbonization (from large-scale electricity storage to mass-scale hydrogen use), we cannot expect the world economy to become carbon-free by 2050. The goal may be desirable, but it remains unrealistic. The latest International Energy Agency *World Energy Outlook* report confirms that conclusion. While it projects that energy-related CO₂ emissions will peak in 2025, and that the demand for all fossil fuels will peak by 2030, it also anticipates that only coal consumption will decline significantly by 2050 (though it will still be about half of the 2023 level), and that the demand for crude oil and natural gas will see only marginal changes by 2050 with oil consumption still around 4 billion tons and natural gas use still above 4 trillion cubic meters a year (IEA, 2023d).

Wishful thinking or claiming otherwise should not be used or defended by saying that doing so represents "aspirational" goals. Responsible analyses must acknowledge existing energy, material, engineering, managerial, economic, and political realities. An impartial assessment of those resources indicates that it is extremely unlikely that the global energy system will be rid of all fossil carbon by 2050. Sensible policies and their vigorous pursuit will determine the actual degree of that dissociation, which might be as high as 60 or 65 percent. More and more people are recognizing these realities, and fewer are swayed by the incessant stream of miraculously downward-bending decarbonization scenarios so dear to demand modelers.

Long-term global energy forecasts offering numbers for overall demand or supply and for shares contributed by specific sources or conversions are beyond our capability: the system is too complex and too open to unforeseen but profound perturbations for such specificity. However, skepticism in constructing long-term estimates will lessen the extent of inevitable errors. Here is an example of a realistic 2023 forecast done by Norwegian risk management company DNV that has been echoed recently by other realistic assessments. After noting that global energy-related emissions are still climbing (but might peak in 2024 when the transition would effectively begin) it concludes that by 2050 we will move from the present roughly 80 percent fossil/20 percent non-fossil split to a 48 percent/52 percent ratio by 2050, with primary energy from fossil fuels declining by nearly two-thirds but still remaining at about 314 EJ by 2050—in other words, about as high as it was in 1995 (DNV, 2023).

Again, that is what any serious student of global energy transitions would expect. Individual components change at different speeds and notably rapid transformations are possible, but the overall historical pattern quantified in terms of primary energies is one of gradual changes. Unfortunately, modern forecasting in general and the anticipation of energy advances in particular have an unmistakable tendency toward excessive optimism, exaggeration, and outright hype (Smil, 2023b). During the 1970s many people believed that by the year 2000 all electricity would come not just from fission, but from fast breeder reactors, and soon afterwards came the promises of "soft energy" taking over (Smil, 2000).

Belief in near-miraculous tomorrows never goes away. Even now we can read declarations claiming that the world can rely solely on wind and PV by 2030 (Global100RE-StrategyGroup, 2023). And then there are repeated claims that all energy needs (from airplanes to steel smelting) can be supplied by cheap green hydrogen or by affordable nuclear fusion. What does this all accomplish besides filling print and screens with unrealizable claims? Instead, we should devote our efforts to charting realistic futures that consider our technical capabilities, our material supplies, our economic possibilities, and our social necessities—and then devise practical ways to achieve them. We can always strive to surpass them—a far better goal than setting ourselves up for repeated failures by clinging to unrealistic targets and impractical visions. Failing to reach an unrealistic goal of complete global decarbonization by 2050 means failing to limit average global warming to 1.5° C. How much higher the temperature might rise will not depend only on our continued efforts to decarbonize the global energy supply but also on our success in limiting CO₂ and other greenhouse gases generated by agriculture, animal husbandry, deforestation, land use changes, and waste disposal. After all, those contributions account for at least a quarter of global anthropogenic emissions but, so far, we have been almost exclusively focused on CO₂ from fossil fuel combustion. But that is a topic for another inquiry.

8. Closing Thoughts

I will close with some simple historical and order-of-magnitude perspectives. My reconstruction of global energy supply (including the traditional biomass energies) shows that fossil fuels, and later also hydro and nuclear electricity, rose from just 2 percent in 1800 to 95 percent in 2020 (Smil, 2016a). After more than two centuries the first energy transition is still not complete.

And the second one? Even if we were to assume that, because of higher conversion efficiencies of an extensively electrified economy, we will need to replace only 300 EJ, rather than 500 EJ of today's fossil fuel supply by 2050, then 85 percent of the task is still ahead of us. As of 2022 renewable energies supplied only about 45 EJ and that has prorated to annual gain of 1.7 EJ during the past 27 years. But to eliminate fossil carbon by 2050 new energy additions would have to average about 9.4 EJ a year during the next 27 years, implying an annual transition pace nearly six times faster than during the past 27 years. Can we, instantly, sextuple (or "just" quintuple or quadruple) our annual achievements and maintain those news levels until 2050?

The unfolding transition is only the second such fundamentally transformative event in history, and these two events share a similar goal: a complete change of the energy foundations of the entire civilization. In comparison to today's technical achievements and options, the first grand transition began to unfold with rudimentary technical capabilities, but, eventually, it certainly surpassed the initial expectations for it; it created new, affluent, high-energy societies.

Even though we are technically far better equipped than we were 150 to 200 years ago, the task presented by the second energy transition appears to be no less challenging. Just before the end of 2023 the International Energy Agency published its estimate of global investment in "clean energy"—in other words, essentially the recent annual cost of the energy transition. In 2023 it was close to \$2.2 trillion (IEA, 2023g). Even if we were to replace just 60 percent of today's fossil fuel consumption, we should be investing about six times more, or about \$13 trillion a year, to reach zero carbon by 2050. Making it \$15-17 trillion a year (to account for expected cost over-runs) seems hardly excessive, and it takes us, once again, to a grand total of \$400-460 trillion by the year 2050, good confirmation of a previously derived value. This is not a forecast, just a plausible estimate intended to indicate the commonly underestimated cost of this global endeavour.

No natural laws bar us from making the enormous investments needed to sustain such massive annual shifts: we could resort to an unprecedented, decades-long, and civilization-wide existential mobilization of constructive and transformative efforts or, conversely, we could deliberately reduce our energy use by lowering our standard of living and keeping it low to make it easier to displace all fossil carbon.

In the absence of these two radical choices, we should not ignore the experience of the past grand energy transition (from traditional biomass energies to fossil fuels) and we should not underestimate the concatenation of challenges presented by practical engineering, material, organizational, social, political, and environmental requirements of the unfolding transition to a fossil carbon-free world that have been partially reviewed in this essay. When we do assess these challenges realistically, we must conclude that the world free of fossil carbon by 2050 is highly unlikely. 33

References

- Airbus (2023). Global Market Forecast: 2023-2042. Airbus. https://www.airbus.com/en/products-services/commercial-aircraft/market/global-market-forecast, as of February 14, 2024.
- Amprius (2023, March 23). The All-New Amprius 500 Wh/kg Battery Platform is Here. Amprius Technologies. <<u>https://amprius.com/the-all-new-amprius-500-wh-kg-battery-platform-ishere/></u>, as of February 13, 2024.
- Appunn, Kerstine (2021, April 29). New German Power Lines Delayed by Years Media Report. Clean Energy Wire. https://www.cleanenergywire.org/news/new-german-power-linesdelayed-years-media-report, as of February 14, 2024.
- ArcelorMittal. 2023. Steel's Sustainability Credentials. ArcelorMittal. https://corporate.arcelormittal.com/climate-action/steel-s-sustainability-credentials, as of February 14, 2024.
- Arrhenius, Svante (1896). On the Influence of Carbonic Acid in the Air upon the Temperature of the Ground. *Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science*, Series 5, 41: 237-276.
- Biogradlija, Arnes (2023, September 15). HyDeal Espana: A Reality Check for Europe's Hydrogen Ambitions. *Energy News*. https://energynews.biz/hydeal-espana-a-reality-check-for-europes-hydrogen-ambitions/, as of February 14, 2024.
- BloombergNEF (2023, June 7). Cost of Clean Energy Technologies Drop as Expensive Debt Offset by Cooling Commodity Prices. BloombergNEF. <<u>https://about.bnef.com/blog/</u> cost-of-clean-energy-technologies-drop-as-expensive-debt-offset-by-cooling-commodityprices/>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Carrara, Samuel, Patricia Alves Dias, Beatrice Plazzotta, and Claudiu Pavel (2020). Raw Materials Demand for Wind and Solar PV Technologies in the Transition towards a Decarbonised Energy System. Joint Research Centre, European Commission. https://op.europa.eu/en/ publication-detail/-/publication/19aae047-7f88-11ea-aea8-01aa75ed71a1/language-en, as of February 14, 2024.
- Casey, Jessica (2023, September 13). Africa: The Natural Gas Sleeping Giant. *LNG Industry*. <https://www.lngindustry.com/special-reports/13092023/africa-the-natural-gas-sleeping-giant/>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Castillo, Rodrigo, and Caitlin Purdy (2022). China's Role in Supplying Critical Minerals for the Global Energy Transition. Leveraging Transparency to Reduce Corruption project (LTRC), Brookings Institution. https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/LTRC_ChinaSupplyChain.pdf>, as of February 14, 2024.
- CH-Aviation (2022). Global Fleet Size. CH-Aviation. <<u>https://about.ch-aviation.com/</u> blog/2022/06/30/june-2022-global-fleet-size-analysis-by-ch-aviation/>, as of February 13, 2024.

- Colman, Zack (2023, February 27). "We Can't Find People to Work": The Newest Threat to Biden's Climate Policies. *Politico*. <<u>https://www.politico.com/news/2023/02/27/bidenclimate-jobs-00080207</u>>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Cruise Industry News (2023, August 24). Cruise Ship Orderbook Stands At 56 New Vessels and \$39 Billion. *Cruise News*. https://cruiseindustrynews.com/cruise-news/2023/08/cruise-ship-orderbook-stands-at-56-new-vessels-and-39-billion/, as of February 14, 2024.
- Danish Energy Agency. 2023. Energy in Denmark 2021: Data, Tables, Statistics and Maps. Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities, Government of Denmark. <<u>https://ens.dk/sites/ens.dk/files/Statistik/energy_in_denmark_2021.pdf</u>>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Delarue, Erik, and Jennifer Morris (2015). Renewables Intermittency: Operational Limits and Implications for Long-Term Energy System Models. Report Number 277 (March). Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change, Massachusetts Institute of Technology [MIT]. <https://globalchange.mit.edu/sites/default/files/MITJPSPGC_Rpt277.pdf>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Det Norske Veritas [DNV] (2023). *Energy Transition Outlook* 2023. DNV. <https://www.dnv.com/ energy-transition-outlook/index.html>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Ener8 (2023). The Ener8 Merchant Fleet Infographic 2023. Ener8. <<u>https://www.ener8.com/</u> merchant-fleet-infographic-2023/>, as of February 13, 2024.
- Energy Institute (2023a). Resources and Data Downloads. *Statistical Review of World Energy* 2023. Energy Institute. <<u>https://www.energyinst.org/statistical-review/resources-and-data-downloads</u>>, as of February 13, 2024.
- Energy Institute (2023b). *Statistical Review of World Energy 2023*. Energy Institute. <<u>https://www.energyinst.org/statistical-review</u>>, as of February 13, 2024.
- Energy Institute (2023c). Carbon Dioxide Equivalent Emissions from Energy, Process Emissions, Methane, and Flaring (from 1990). [Data table.] *Statistical Review of World Energy* 2023. Energy Institute. <https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view. aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.energyinst.org%2F__data%2Fassets%2Fexcel_ doc%2F0007%2F1055545%2FEI-stats-review-all-data.xlsx&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Energy Transitions Commission. 2023. Material and Resource Requirements for the Energy Transition. The Barriers to Clean Electrification Series. Energy Transitions Commission (July). https://www.energy-transitions.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/08/ETC-Materials-Report_highres-1.pdf>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Fertiberia (2022). HyDeal Spain: The World's Largest Integrated Renewable and Competitive Hydrogen Hub. Fertiberia. https://www.fertiberia.com/en/hydeal-spain-the-worlds-largest-integrated-renewable-and-competitive-hydrogen-hub/, as of February 14, 2024.
- Flyvbjerg, Bent, and Dan Gardner (2023). *How Big Things Get Done: The Surprising Factors That Determine the Fate of Every Project, from Home Renovations to Space Exploration and Everything in Between*. Crown Currency.
- Food and Agriculture Organization [FAO] (2022). *Forest Products 2020*. United Nations, FAO. <<u>https://www.fao.org/documents/card/en/c/cc3475m</u>>, as of February 13, 2024.

- Garsten, Ed (2023, December 14). EV Sales Pace Is Running Short of Power Going into 2024. *Forbes*. <https://www.forbes.com/sites/edgarsten/2023/12/14/ev-sales-pace-is-running-short-of-power-going-into-2024/?sh=38e5bba79858 >, as of February 13, 2024.
- Global Monitoring Laboratory (2023). Trends in Atmospheric Carbon Dioxide. Global Monitoring Laboratory. https://gml.noaa.gov/ccgg/trends/, as of February 13, 2024.
- Global100REStrategyGroup (2023). Joint Declaration of the Global 100% Renewable Energy Strategy Group. Global100REStrategyGroup. <<u>https://global100restrategygroup.org</u>/>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Hedges and Company (2023). How Many Cars Are There in The World in 2024? Statistics by Country. Hedges and Company. <<u>https://hedgescompany.com/blog/2021/06/how-many-cars-are-there-in-the-world/</u>>, as of February 13, 2024;
- HyDeal (Undated). HyDeal Ambition. HyDeal. <<u>https://www.hydeal.com/hydeal-ambition#FirstProject></u>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Iberdrola (Undated). Green Steel: A Material Ready for Industrial Decarbonisation and Widening the Horizons of Electrification. Iberdrola. https://www.iberdrola.com/sustainability/greensteel>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [IPCC] (2018). Special Report: Global Warming of 1.5°C. Summary for Policymakers. IPCC. https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/chapter/spm/, as of February 13, 2024.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [IPCC] (2021). What is the IPCC? IPCC Factsheet (July). <https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2021/07/AR6_FS_What_is_IPCC.pdf>, as of February 13, 2024.
- International Atomic Energy Agency [IAEA] (2023). What are Small Modular Reactors (SMRs)? IAEA. <https://www.iaea.org/newscenter/news/what-are-small-modular-reactors-smrs>, as of February 14, 2024.
- International Energy Agency [IEA] (2021a). *World Energy Outlook 2021*. IEA. <<u>https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2021</u>>, as of February 13, 2024.
- International Energy Agency [IEA] (2021c). Mineral Requirements for Clean Energy Transitions. *The Role of Critical Minerals in Clean Energy Transitions*. IEA. <https://www. iea.org/reports/the-role-of-critical-minerals-in-clean-energy-transitions/mineralrequirements-for-clean-energy-transitions>, as of February 14, 2024.
- International Energy Agency [IEA] (2021d). Average Copper Ore Grade in Chile by Production Route, 2005-2019 [Figure]. *The Role of Critical Minerals in Clean Energy Transitions*. IEA. <https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/average-copper-ore-grade-in-chile-byproduction-route-2005-2019>, as of February 14, 2024.
- International Energy Agency [IEA] (2022). An Updated Roadmap to Net Zero Emissions by 2050. *World Energy Outlook* 2022. IEA. <<u>https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2022/</u> an-updated-roadmap-to-net-zero-emissions-by-2050>, as of February 14, 2024.
- International Energy Agency [IEA] (2023a). Tracking Carbon Capture, Utilisation and Storage. IEA. https://www.iea.org/energy-system/carbon-capture-utilisation-and-storage#tracking>, as of February 12, 2024.

- International Energy Agency [IEA] (2023b). *CO*₂ *Emissions in* 2022. IEA. <<u>https://www.iea.org/</u>reports/co2-emissions-in-2022>, as of February 13, 2024.
- International Energy Agency [IEA] (2023c). Trends in Electric Light-Duty Vehicles. Global EV Outlook 2023. IEA. https://www.iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2023/trends-inelectric-light-duty-vehicles, as of February 13, 2024.
- International Energy Agency [IEA] (2023d). *World Energy Outlook* 2023. IEA. https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/42b23c45-78bc-4482-b0f9-eb826ae2da3d/ WorldEnergyOutlook2023.pdf>, as of February 2024.
- International Energy Agency [IEA] (2023e). Lagging Policy Support and Rising Cost Pressures Put Investment Plans for Low-Emissions Hydrogen at Risk. IEA. <<u>https://www.iea.org/news/lagging-policy-support-and-rising-cost-pressures-put-investment-plans-for-low-emissions-hydrogen-at-risk</u>>, as of February 14, 2024.
- International Energy Agency [IEA] (2023f). Electricity Grids and Secure Energy Transitions. IEA. https://www.iea.org/reports/electricity-grids-and-secure-energy-transitions>, as of February 14, 2024.
- International Energy Agency [IEA] (2023g). *World Energy Investment* 2023. IEA. https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-investment-2023/overview-and-key-findings, as of February 14, 2024.
- International Renewable Energy Agency [IRENA]. 2023. Making the Breakthrough: Green Hydrogen Policies and Technology Costs. Highlights and Excerpts from Green Hydrogen: A Guide to Policy Making. IRENA. https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/ Publication/2020/Nov/IRENA_Green_Hydrogen_breakthrough_2021.pdf>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Jamasmie, Cecilia (2018, April 25). Lower Copper Grades Take Toll on Antofagasta First Quarter Output. Mining.com. <<u>https://www.mining.com/lower-copper-grades-take-toll-antofagasta-first-quarter-output/</u>>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Jones, Florence (2023, February 22). Europe's First Commercial Green Steel Plant to Open in Sweden. Mining Technology. https://www.mining-technology.com/news/green-steel-hydrogen/>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Kompetenzzentrum Fachkräftesicherung [KOFA] (2022). *Energie aus Wind und Sonne* [Energy from Wind and Sun]. KOFA Study number 3 (November 28). KOFA. <<u>https://www.kofa.de/daten-und-fakten/studien/energie-aus-wind-und-sonne/</u>>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Lazenby, Henry (2018, November 19). Chile's Copper Recovery Fails to Ease Long-Term Grade Concern. *Mining Journal.* https://www.mining-journal.com/copper-news/news/1351361/chiles-copper-recovery-fails-to-ease-long-term-grade-concern, as of February 14, 2024.
- Lennox. 2024. Furnaces. Lennox. https://www.lennox.com/products/heating-cooling/furnaces, as of April 2, 2024.
- Lewis, Michelle (2023, August 3). The World's Largest Battery Storage System Just Got Even Larger. Electrek. <<u>https://electrek.co/2023/08/03/worlds-largest-battery-storage-system-just-got-even-larger/></u>, as of February 14, 2024.

- Marouani, Ismail, Tawfik Guesmi, Badr M. Alshammari, et al. (2023). Integration of Renewable-Energy-Based Green Hydrogen into the Energy Future. *Processes 2023* 11, 9: article 2685. https://www.mdpi.com/2227-9717/11/9/2685>, as of April 2, 2024.
- Mcfarlane, Sarah, and Kate Abnett (2022, November 10). African Nations Tell COP27 Fossil Fuels Will Tackle Poverty. Reuters. <<u>https://www.reuters.com/business/cop/african-hostedclimate-talks-give-fossil-fuel-voice-2022-11-10/></u>, as of February 14, 2024.
- McKinsey and Company (2022). *The Net Zero Transition: What It Would Cost, What It Could Bring.* McKinsey and Company. <https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/business functions/sustainability/our insights/the net zero transition what it would cost what it could bring/the-net-zero-transition-what-it-would-cost-and-what-it-could-bring-final.pdf>, as of February 14, 2024.
- McKinsey and Company (2023). The First Cut Is the Deepest. McKinsey. <<u>https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/sustainable-inclusive-growth/chart-of-the-day/the-first-cut-is-the-deepest</u>, as of February 14, 2024.
- McLain, Sean, and Nate Rattner (2023, December 27). How Electric Vehicles Are Losing Momentum with U.S. Buyers, in Charts. *The Wall Street Journal*. <<u>https://www.wsj.com/business/autos/electric-vehicle-demand-charts-7d3089c7</u>>, as of February 13, 2024 [paywall].
- Miller, Greg (2023, May 17). How LNG Shipping Kept Europe's Wartime Energy Supply Secure. FreightWaves. https://www.freightwaves.com/news/how-lng-shipping-kept-wartime-europes-energy-supply-secure, as of February 14, 2024.
- Mills, Rick (2022, October 27). Copper: The Most Important Metal We're Running Short Of. Streetwise Reports. https://www.streetwisereports.com/article/2022/10/27/copper-themost-important-metal-we-re-running-short-of.html>, as of February 14, 2024.
- NASA (2023). What is the Greenhouse Effect? *Global Climate Change: Vital Signs of the Planet*. Jet Propulsion Laboratory, NASA. <<u>https://climate.nasa.gov/faq/19/what-is-the-greenhouse-effect</u>/>, as of February 13, 2024.
- Reuters (2023, February 26). China's New Coal Plant Approvals Surge in 2022, Highest Since 2015 – Research. Reuters. https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/chinas-new-coalplant-approvals-surge-2022-highest-since-2015-research-2023-02-27/">https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/chinas-new-coalplant-approvals-surge-2022-highest-since-2015-research-2023-02-27/, as of February 14, 2024.
- Reuters (2023, June 20). World's Largest Commercial Jet Purchase Orders by Number of Aircraft. Reuters. https://www.reuters.com/business/aerospace-defense/worlds-largest-commercial-jet-purchase-orders-by-number-aircraft-2023-06-20/, as of February 14, 2024.
- Revelle, Roger, and Hans E. Suess (1957). Carbon Dioxide Exchange Between Atmosphere and Ocean and the Question of an Increase of Atmospheric CO₂ During the Past Decades. *Tellus* 9, 1 (February): 18-27. <<u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/</u> abs/10.1111/j.2153-3490.1957.tb01849.x>, as of February 13, 2024.
- Shah, Raj, Mathias Woydt, and Nathan Aragon (2020). Where Are Lubricants Headed? Inform Magazine (November/December). American Oil Chemists' Society [AOCS]. <https://www.aocs.org/stay-informed/inform-magazine/featured-articles/</p>

where-are-lubricants-headed-november/december-2020?SSO=True>, as of February 13, 2024.

- Singer, Mark, Caley Johnson, Edward Rose, Erin Nobler, and Luna Hoopes. 2023. Electric Vehicle Efficiency Ratios for Light-Duty Vehicles Registered in the United States. NREL/TP-5400-84631. National Renewable Energy Laboratory. https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy23osti/84631.pdf, as of April 2, 2024.
- Singh, Rajesh Kumar, and Anna Kitanaka (2022, September 23). India May Boost Coal Power Fleet 25% by 2030 Amid Rising Demand. BNN Bloomberg. https://www.bnnbloomberg. ca/india-may-boost-coal-power-fleet-25-by-2030-amid-rising-demand-1.1822621>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Smil, Vaclav (2000). Perils of Long-Range Energy Forecasting: Reflections on Looking Far Ahead. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change* 65, 3: 251–264. <<u>https://vaclavsmil. com/wp-content/uploads/docs/smil-article-2000-science2000.pdf</u>>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Smil, Vaclav (2015). Power Density. MIT Press.
- Smil, Vaclav (2016a). Energy Transitions: Global and National Perspectives. Praeger.
- Smil, Vaclav (2016b). Still the Iron Age: Iron and Steel in the Modern World. Elsevier.
- Smil, Vaclav (2017). Energy and Civilization: A History. MIT Press.
- Smil, Vaclav (2022a). How the World Really Works. Viking.
- Smil, Vaclav (2022b). Decarbonization Is Our Costliest Challenge. *IEEE Spectrum* (October): 22-23. <<u>https://vaclavsmil.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/94.HYDRO_.pdf</u>>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Smil, Vaclav (2023a). *Materials and Dematerialization: Making the Modern World*. John Wiley and Sons.
- Smil, Vaclav (2023b). Invention and Innovation: A Brief History of Hype and Failure. MIT Press.
- Solomon, Abebe A., Michael Child, and Upeksha Caldera (2017). How Much Energy Storage Is Needed to Incorporate Very Large Intermittent Renewables? *Energy Procedia* 135: 283–293. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/320698256_How_much_energy_storage_is_needed_to_incorporate_very_large_intermittent_renewables>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Sonter, Laura J., Marine Maron, Joseph W. Bull, et al. (2023). How to Fuel an Energy Transition with Ecologically Responsible Mining. *PNAS* 120, 35 (August 25): 2307006120. <<u>https://www.pnas.org/doi/10.1073/pnas.2307006120</u>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Sorensen, Bent (2015). Energy Intermittency. CRC Press.
- Tassava, Christopher J. (2008). The American Economy during World War II. Economic History Association. <<u>https://eh.net/encyclopedia/the-american-economy-during-world-war-ii/</u>>, as of February 14, 2024.
- The Smarter Europe. 2023. In the Photovoltaic Sector, the Shortage of Skilled Workers at the Level of Electricians Is Estimated at Around 60 to 100,000 People. Interview with Berthold Breid, CEO, RENAC (September 1). The Smarter Europe. <<u>https://www.thesmartere.de/news/interview-berthold-breid-skills-shortage</u>>, as of February 14, 2024.

Tokyo Electric Power Company [TEPCO] (2023). *Integrated Report 2023*. TEPCO. <https://www.tepco.co.jp/en/hd/about/ir/library/integratedreport/index-e.html>, as of February 14, 2024.

Tyndall, John (1861). The Bakerian Lecture. Philosophical Transactions 151: 28.

- United Nations (1998). Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. United Nations. https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/convkp/kpeng.pdf>, as of February 13, 2024.
- United Nations Climate Change (2023). Bodies: Conference of the Parties (COP). United Nations Climate Change. <<u>https://unfccc.int/process/bodies/supreme-bodies/conference-of-the-parties-cop</u>>, as of February 13, 2024.
- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change [UNFCCC] (2015). Paris Agreement. UNFCCC. <https://unfccc.int/files/meetings/paris_nov_2015/application/pdf/paris_ agreement_english_.pdf>, as of February 13, 2024.
- United States, Environmental Protection Agency [US EPA] (2023). Household Energy and Clean Cookstove Research. EPA. <<u>https://www.epa.gov/air-research/household-energy-and-cleancookstove-research</u>>, as of February 13, 2024.
- US Energy Information Administration [EIA] (2021, October 26). EIA Projects Global Conventional Vehicle Fleet Will Peak in 2038. *Today in Energy*. EIA. <<u>https://www.eia.gov/</u> todayinenergy/detail.php?id=50096>, as of February 14, 2024.
- US Energy Information Administration [EIA] (2022). *Levelized Costs of New Generation Resources in the Annual Energy Outlook 2022*. Independent Statistics and Analysis. EIA. <<u>https://www.eia.gov/outlooks/aeo/pdf/electricity_generation.pdf</u>>, as of February 13, 2024.
- US Energy Information Administration [EIA] (2023a). Table 8.1: Average Operating Heat Rate for selected Energy Sources, 2012 through 2022. SAS Output. EIA. <<u>https://www.eia.gov/electricity/annual/html/epa_08_01.html</u>>, as of April 2, 2024.
- US Energy Information Administration [EIA] (2023b). Table 6.07.B. Capacity Factors for Utility Scale Generators Primarily Using Non-Fossil Fuels. *Electric Power Monthly*. EIA. <<u>https://www.eia.gov/electricity/monthly/epm_table_grapher.php?t=table_6_07_b</u>>, as of February 14, 2024.
- Venditti, Bruno, and Sabrina Fortin (2023, May 13). The Road to Decarbonization: How Asphalt is Affecting the Planet. Visual Capitalist. https://www.visualcapitalist.com/sp/the-road-todecarbonization-how-asphalt-is-affecting-the-planet/, as of February 13, 2024.
- World Bank (2023). Gross Domestic Product 2022. World Bank. <<u>https://databankfiles.</u> worldbank.org/public/ddpext_download/GDP.pdf>, as of February 14, 2024.
- World Meteorological Organization. 2023, January 12. Past Eight Years Confirmed to be the Eight Warmest On Record. Press Release. World Meteorological Organization. https://wmo.int/news/media-centre/past-eight-years-confirmed-be-eight-warmest-record, as of February 13, 2024.
- World Steel Association. 2023. *World Steel in Figures 2023*. World Steel Association <<u>https://worldsteel.org/steel-topics/statistics/world-steel-in-figures-2023/</u>, as of February 14, 2023.

About the Author

Vaclav Smil is a Distinguished Professor Emeritus at the University of Manitoba in Winnipeg, Canada. By the end of 2023 he has published or has in print 50 books (with translations to 35 languages) and more than 500 papers of interdisciplinary research. His latest books published in 2022 and 2023 are *How the World Really Works* (NYT bestseller), *Size, Invention and Innovation, and Materials* and *Dematerialization*.



Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the anonymous reviewers of earlier drafts of this paper for their helpful comments and suggestions. Any remaining errors or oversights are the sole responsibility of the authors. As the researchers have worked independently, the views and conclusions expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the Board of Directors of the Fraser Institute, the staff, or supporters. This publication in no way implies that the Fraser Institute, its directors, or staff are in favour of, or oppose the passage of, any bill; or that they support or oppose any particular political party or candidate.

Publishing Information

Distribution

These publications are available from <http://www.fraserinstitute.org> in Portable Document Format (PDF) and can be read with Adobe Acrobat[®] or Adobe Reader[®], versions 8 or later. Adobe Reader[®] DC, the most recent version, is available free of charge from Adobe Systems Inc. at <<u>http://get.adobe.com/reader/></u>. Readers having trouble viewing or printing our PDF files using applications from other manufacturers (e.g., Apple's Preview) should use Reader[®] or Acrobat[®].

Ordering publications

To order printed publications from the Fraser Institute, please contact:

- e-mail: sales@fraserinstitute.org
- telephone: 604.688.0221 ext. 580 or, toll free, 1.800.665.3558 ext. 580
- fax: 604.688.8539.

Media

For media enquiries, please contact our Communications Department:

- 604.714.4582
- e-mail: communications@fraserinstitute.org.

Copyright

Copyright © 2024 by the Fraser Institute. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any manner whatsoever without written permission except in the case of brief passages quoted in critical articles and reviews.

Date of issue

May 2024

ISBN

978-0-88975-777-6

Citation

Vaclav Smil (2024). *Halfway Between Kyoto and 2050: Zero Carbon Is a Highly Unlikely Outcome*. The Fraser Institute. <<u>http://www.fraserinstitute.org</u>>.

About the Fraser Institute

Our mission is to improve the quality of life for Canadians, their families, and future generations by studying, measuring, and broadly communicating the effects of government policies, entrepreneurship, and choice on their well-being.

Notre mission consiste à améliorer la qualité de vie des Canadiens et des générations à venir en étudiant, en mesurant et en diffusant les effets des politiques gouvernementales, de l'entrepreneuriat et des choix sur leur bien-être.

Peer review—validating the accuracy of our research

The Fraser Institute maintains a rigorous peer review process for its research. New research, major research projects, and substantively modified research conducted by the Fraser Institute are reviewed by experts with a recognized expertise in the topic area being addressed. Whenever possible, external review is a blind process. Updates to previously reviewed research or new editions of previously reviewed research are not reviewed unless the update includes substantive or material changes in the methodology.

The review process is overseen by the directors of the Institute's research departments who are responsible for ensuring all research published by the Institute passes through the appropriate peer review. If a dispute about the recommendations of the reviewers should arise during the Institute's peer review process, the Institute has an Editorial Advisory Board, a panel of scholars from Canada, the United States, and Europe to whom it can turn for help in resolving the dispute.

Editorial Advisory Board

Members

Prof. Terry L. Anderson Prof. Robert Barro Prof. Jean-Pierre Centi Prof. John Chant Prof. Bev Dahlby Prof. Erwin Diewert Prof. J.C. Herbert Emery Prof. Jack L. Granatstein Prof. Herbert G. Grubel Dr. Jerry Jordan Prof. Ross McKitrick Prof. Michael Parkin Prof. Friedrich Schneider Prof. Lawrence B. Smith Dr. Vito Tanzi

Past members

Prof. Armen Alchian* Prof. Michael Bliss* Prof. James M. Buchanan*† Prof. Stephen Easton* Prof. James Gwartney* Prof. Friedrich A. Hayek*† Prof. H.G. Johnson* Prof. Ronald W. Jones Prof. F.G. Pennance^{*} Prof. George Stigler^{*}† Sir Alan Walters^{*} Prof. Edwin G. West^{*}

*deceased; †nobel laureate